2005

Wasatch Crest Insurance Company v. LWP Claims Administrators Corp : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

I. INTRODUCTION

The Utah Insurance Code gives the Liquidator the power to retrieve monies paid by an insolvent insurance company to any of its affiliates during the five years prior to the filing of the liquidation petition. Affiliate transactions are so susceptible to manipulation and abuse that the Liquidator is statutorily empowered by § 31A-27-322 to recoup those paid monies regardless of any defense asserted by the original recipient/affiliate. The Liquidator moves this Court to enter summary judgment regarding the payments received by Defendants LWP Claims Administrators, Corp. and LWP Claims Solutions, Inc. as affiliates of Plaintiffs Wasatch Crest Insurance Company and Wasatch Crest Mutual Insurance Company.

II. MATERIAL FACTS FOR WHICH NO GENUINE ISSUE EXISTS

1. Plaintiff Wasatch Crest Insurance Company was an insurance company domiciled in the State of Utah (“WCIC” or “Wasatch Crest Insurance”). Wasatch Crest Insurance was placed into liquidation by the Third Judicial District Court, in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, on or about July 31, 2003. *See* Complaint at ¶ 1 and Answer at ¶ 1, true and correct copies of which are attached hereto respectively as Exhibits “A” and “B”.

2. Plaintiff Wasatch Crest Mutual Insurance Company was an insurance company domiciled in the State of Utah (“WCMIC” or “Wasatch Crest Mutual”). Wasatch Crest Mutual was placed into Liquidation by the Third Judicial District Court, in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, on or about July 31, 2003. *See* Complaint, Ex. “A” at ¶ 2 and Answer, Ex. “B” at ¶ 2.

3. Plaintiff Merwin U. Stewart, Utah Insurance Commissioner, was appointed by the Third Judicial District Court as the liquidator of WCIC and WCMIC on July 31, 2003 (the “Liquidator”). The Liquidator has the authority and standing to bring this action pursuant to § 31A-27-310, Utah Code Ann. The Liquidator is vested by operation of law with the title to all the property, contracts, and rights of actions of the insurance company being liquidated, wherever located, as of the date of the filing of the petition for Liquidation. Pursuant to § 31A-27-314, Utah Code Ann., the Liquidator may continue to prosecute and institute in the name of the insurer or in the Liquidator’s own name, any suits or other legal proceedings in this state or elsewhere. *See* Liquidation Order, a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “C”.

4. Defendant LWP Claims Administrators, Corp. was a California corporation. The name “LWP Claims Administrators, Corp” was changed to LWP Claims Solutions, Inc. *See* Complaint, Ex. “A” at ¶ 4 and Answer, Ex. “B” at ¶ 4.

5. Defendant LWP Claims Solutions, Inc. is a California corporation. *See* Utah Department of Commerce print out, attached hereto as Exhibit “D”. LWP Claims Administrators, Corp. and LWP Claims Solutions, Inc. are collectively referred to as “LWP”. Wasatch Crest Group, Inc. was the parent corporation of WCIC. LWP was

sold to John A. Igoe, the former Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer of WCIC and LWP. Mr. Igoe was also the Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer of Wasatch Crest Group, Inc., the parent corporation of WCIC and LWP. LWP was an affiliate of Wasatch Crest Group, Inc., WCIC, and WCMIC. *See* Complaint, Ex. “A” at ¶ 5; *see also* Wasatch Crest Group, Inc. Form B¹, dated April 16, 2001 at p. 5, a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “E”.

Corporate History of Wasatch Crest Mutual and Wasatch Crest Insurance
Acquisition of FCL

6. Wasatch Crest Mutual was a mutual insurance company controlled by its policyholders who annually elected a Board of Directors. Effective April 15, 1994, Wasatch Crest Mutual purchased all of the issued and outstanding common stock of First Continental Life & Accident Insurance Company, a Utah domiciled insurance company (“FCL”). *See* Wasatch Crest Mutual Insurance Co. Form B, dated July 15, 1998, a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “F”; *see also* Form B dated April 16, 2001, Ex. “E”.

¹ Form B is a standard form used by all state insurance departments. Form B is a report to the state regulators as to the transactions and interrelationship of the insurance company and its affiliates which must be filed annually or whenever a material transaction or change has occurred. All Form B’s referenced in this Memorandum were filed with the Utah Department of Insurance.

Creation of Wasatch Crest Insurance Company
and Merger with Wasatch Crest Casualty

7. Effective October 31, 1998, Wasatch Crest Group (the parent company of WCIC) purchased all of the issued and outstanding common shares of Utah Home Fire Insurance Company, a Utah domiciled property and casualty company, from Deseret Management Corporation. Wasatch Crest Group changed the name of Utah Home Fire Insurance to Wasatch Crest Insurance Company. Effective December 19, 2000, Wasatch Crest Casualty Company was merged into Wasatch Crest Insurance with Wasatch Crest Insurance as the surviving company. See Form B dated April 16, 2001, Ex. "E" at p. 14.

Corporate History of LWP

8. On November 16, 1999, Wasatch Crest Group purchased from LWP Commercial Claims Administrators, Inc. substantially all of the assets, real and personal property, and business operations owned by LWP Commercial Claims Administrators, Inc. pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement By and Among Wasatch Crest Group, Inc. and LWP Commercial Claims Administrators, Inc., John A. Igoe and Erica L. Igoe, dated November 16, 1999. Wasatch Crest Group's purchase was an asset purchase, not a purchase of the stock of LWP Commercial Claims Administrators, Inc. LWP Commercial Claims Administrators, Inc. was a third party administrator of insurance claims. Concurrent with the purchase of substantially all of the assets of LWP Commercial Claims Administrators, Inc., Wasatch Crest Group created a new corporate entity, (i.e., LWP Claims Administrators, Corp.) that took possession and title to all of the purchased assets. LWP Claims Administrators, Corp.

was incorporated in the State of California. The name of LWP Claims Administrators, Corp. was subsequently changed to LWP Claims Solutions, Inc. LWP is currently a California corporation with offices in Sacramento, California and Salt Lake City, Utah. LWP is currently a third-party administrator (“TPA”), which specializes in the administration of worker’s compensation insurance and claims associated with ski industry workers. *See* Answer, Ex. “B” at ¶ 15 at; *see also* November 16, 1999, Asset Purchase Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit “G” and November 16, 1999 Administrative Services Agreement between LWP Commercial Claims Administrators, Inc. and LWP Claims Administrators, Corp., a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “H”.

Affiliate Transactions

9. On or about November 16, 1999, LWP entered into an agreement with WCIC and WCMIC whereby LWP was paid a fixed percentage fee to administer all the claims throughout the entire duration of the claims. The fee paid to LWP was calculated as a percentage of gross written premium received by WCIC or WCMIC. In addition, LWP was paid a percentage of all medical fee savings generated by LWP in the administration of the claims. LWP’s agreement with WCIC and WCMIC was not reduced to writing or disclosed to the Utah Department of Insurance. *See* May 21, 2002 Letter from Orrin T. Colby Jr. to Judy Adlam attached hereto as Exhibit “I”.

10. Effective January 1, 2001, WCIC and LWP entered into an Administrative Agreement whereby LWP administered worker’s compensation claims for WCIC on a “life of claim” basis and was paid fees as described in paragraph 19 of the

Administrative Agreement. *See* Wasatch Crest Group Form B, dated April 30, 2002 at p. 12, a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “J”; *see also* January 2001 Administrative Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit “K”.

11. LWP presented to WCMIC a proposed Administrative Agreement that was to be effective January 1, 2001. The terms of the agreement were identical to the Administrative Agreement entered into between WCIC and LWP as described above in paragraph 15. *See* Answer, Ex. “B” at ¶ 18; *see also* Letter dated May 21, 2002, Ex. “I”.

12. The agreement between LWP and WCMIC was never executed; rather, the arrangement between WCMIC and LWP continued under the terms of the verbal agreement entered into in November 1999, whereby LWP would administer worker’s compensation claims for WCMIC on a “life of claim” basis. *See* Letter dated May 21, 2002, Ex. “I”.

13. Wasatch Crest Group sold LWP back to John Igoe and Erica Igoe sometime in 2002. John Igoe continued in his capacity as an officer and director of Wasatch Crest Group after the sale of LWP to John and Erica Igoe. *See* Term Sheet attached hereto as Exhibit “L”.

14. From November 16, 1999 through July 30, 2003, WCIC paid \$6,144,402.68 to LWP for claims handling services. Of the \$6,144,402.68 total, \$4,955,586.10 was in the form of a check or wire transfers, while \$1,188,816.58 was in the form of offsets. *See* Affidavit of Robert Miller, a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit “M”.

15. From November 16, 1999 through July 30, 2003, WCMIC paid \$534,265.96 to LWP for claims handling services. Of the \$534,265.96 total, \$474,265.96 was in the form of a check or wire transfers, while \$60,000.00 was in the form of offsets. *See id.*

III. LEGAL ARGUMENT

The Liquidator alleges in the First Claim for Relief of the Complaint that LWP has violated 31A-27-322, Utah Code Ann., which states as follows:

Recoupement from Affiliates

(1) If an order for the liquidation, rehabilitation, or conservation of an insurer authorized to do business in this state is ordered under this chapter, the receiver appointed under the order has a right to recover on behalf of the insurer from any affiliate that controlled the insurer the amount of distributions, other than stock dividends paid by the insurer on its capital stock, made at any time during the five years preceding the petition for liquidation, rehabilitation, or conservation. This recovery is subject to the limitations of Subsections (2) through (6).

(2) No dividend is recoverable if the recipient shows that, when paid, the distribution was lawful and reasonable, and that the insurer did not know and could not reasonably have known that the distribution might adversely affect its solvency.

(3) The maximum amount recoverable under this section is the amount needed, in excess of all other available assets, to pay all claims under the receivership, reduced for each recipient by any amount the recipient has already paid to receivers under similar laws of other states.

(4) Any person who was an affiliate that controlled the insurer at the time the distributions were paid is liable up to the amount of distributions he received. Any person who was an affiliate that controlled the insurer at the time the distributions were declared is liable up to the amount of distributions he would have received if they had been paid immediately. If two or more persons are liable regarding the same distributions, they are jointly and severally liable.

(5) If any person liable under Subsection (4) is insolvent, all affiliates that controlled that person at the time the dividend was declared or paid are jointly and severally liable for any resulting deficiency in the amount recovered from the insolvent affiliate.

(6) This section does not enlarge the personal liability of a director under existing law.

(7) An action or proceeding under this section may not be commenced after the earlier of:

(a) two years after the appointment of a rehabilitator under Section 31A-27-303 or a liquidator under Section 31A-27-310; or

(b) the date the rehabilitation is terminated under Subsection 31A-27-306(2) or the liquidation is terminated under Section 31A-27-339.

Utah Code Ann. § 31A-27-322.

A. LWP was an Affiliate of WCIC and WCMIC.

An affiliate is defined as “any person who controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, another person. A corporation is an affiliate of another corporation, regardless of ownership, if substantially the same group of natural persons manages the corporations.” Utah Code Ann. § 31A-1-301(4). As a result, LWP is an affiliate of WCIC and WCMIC because there is common management and ownership.

John Igoe, the owner and former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of LWP Commercial Claims Administrators, Inc., served concurrently as the Acting Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of Wasatch Crest Group, the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Wasatch Crest Insurance, and the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of LWP Claims Administrators. In those positions, Mr. Igoe initiated, approved and carried out affiliate transactions between LWP, WCIC and WCMIC by entering into Administrative Agreements with both WCIC and WCMIC on behalf of LWP.

B. As an Affiliate, LWP Must Disgorge All Funds It Received from WCIC and WCMIC Since November 16, 1999.

Pursuant to § 31A-27-322, the Liquidator is permitted to recover from any affiliate any distribution made at any time during the five years preceding the petition for liquidation. The petition for liquidation was filed on July 31, 2003. LWP became an affiliate of WCIC and WCMIC on or around November 16, 1999. Consequently, any payments on or after November 16, 1999 to LWP are recoverable.²

If a person or entity qualifies as an affiliate, then any distribution to that affiliate made in the five years prior to the filing of the liquidation petition must be repaid. There are no statutory rights to setoff or other mitigating circumstances. In essence, the Utah statute subordinates the claims of affiliates to the claims of other creditors and policyholders against the remaining assets of the liquidation estate. The Utah statute views an affiliate as an “insider” and relegates any claim of an affiliate to that of a shareholder who is granted the lowest priority claim against the liquidation estate assets.

Because of the inherent dangers of self-dealing and overreaching associated with affiliate transactions, the legislature has determined that insiders/affiliates will recover only to the extent that all other claimants are paid before an affiliate. This interpretation is supported by the language of § 31A-27-322(3), Utah Code Ann., which limits the amount to be recovered by the liquidator from affiliates to “the amount

² The statute provides for payments going back five years (July 31, 1998), but since LWP did not become an affiliate until November 1999, LWP is only responsible for disgorging payments from November 1999 through July 31, 2003.

needed, in excess of all other available assets, to pay all claims under the receivership.” In other words, the Liquidator is prevented from recovering from affiliates anything more than what is necessary to pay all claimants, which in effect is the total deficiency incurred by the liquidation estate. The pragmatic effect of the statute is to subordinate all affiliate payments made within five years of the liquidation order to the claims of all other creditors and policyholders, and thereby permitting the affiliates to recover on the same basis as the equity owners. Because any transaction between an insurance company and its affiliate is so vulnerable to abuses, the statute sweeps back into the liquidation estate of the insolvent insurance company any and all payments made by the insurance company to an affiliate within five years of the insolvency.

Because of the overwhelming threat to the financial stability of an insurance company posed by affiliate transactions, the recipient of affiliated transaction monies must repay everything they have received during the five years prior to the filing of the liquidation petition. Therefore, \$6,678,668.64, paid by WCIC and WCMIC to LWP for claims handling services must be repaid to the Liquidator.