2005

Wasatch Crest Insurance Company, In Liquidation,  
Wasatch Crest Mutual Insurance Company, In  
Liquidation, and D. Kent Michie v. LWP Claims  
Administrators Corp., LWP Claims Solutions, Inc. :  
Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Liquidator is attempting to recover payments to LWP by Mutual and Insurance for claims handling and administrative services under Utah Code Ann. § 31A-27-322 as if they were distributions of equity. The Liquidator has never alleged that LWP failed to provide the services for which it received compensation or that the payments to LWP were other than fair compensation for those services. Instead, he simply argues that all payments of any nature made by the insolvent insurers to all affiliates may be recouped as a matter of law under Utah Code Ann.

§ 31A-27-322, including contemporaneous payments for services actually rendered by affiliates to the insurers.

The plain language of Section 322 allows recovery only from affiliates that controlled an insurer at the time of a distribution by an insurer. Its legislative history shows that its purpose was to remedy the problems occurring when a controlling parent is in a position to raid surpluses of cash or other equity from rich insurer subsidiaries. (R. 1951, 2332.) Although LWP was an affiliate of Insurance for certain time periods, the Liquidator has never argued, and presented no evidence, that LWP ever actually controlled Insurance or Mutual or had the power to direct distributions of any surplus from Insurance or Mutual to LWP. (R. 2977.)

The Liquidator asks the Court to presume as a matter of law that one affiliate controls another just because there is some common management. (Appellant's Brief at 24.) The Utah Insurance Code, however, makes it clear that there is no presumption of control stemming from common management. Utah Code Ann. § 31A-27-301(27). "Control" is instead an element requiring affirmative proof under the statute. Thus, the Liquidator's election not to allege or provide evidence of actual control by LWP of the insurers is fatal to his case as a matter of law.

Further, Section 322 authorizes only recoupment of "distributions" to a controlling affiliate. Common usage, the legislative history of Section 322, the Utah Revised Business Corporation Act and other sections of the Utah Insurance

Code all establish that the term “distribution” as used in Section 322 means dividends or other transfers of equity. The Liquidator has never presented any evidence that Insurance or Mutual made any distributions of equity to LWP. To the contrary, the Liquidator and LWP agree that the payments to LWP were for services rendered. (Appellant’s Brief at 13.) As such, the payments are not distributions, and LWP was also entitled to judgment on that alternative ground as a matter of law.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I. AS A MATTER OF LAW, THE LIQUIDATOR IS NOT ENTITLED TO RECOUP PAYMENTS BY INSURANCE AND MUTUAL TO LWP BECAUSE LWP WAS NEVER AN AFFILIATE THAT CONTROLLED INSURANCE OR MUTUAL, AS EXPRESSLY REQUIRED BY § 31A-27-322.**

The Liquidator seeks recoupment of payments to LWP from Insurance and Mutual under Utah Code Ann. § 31A-27-322(1), which provides:

If an order for the liquidation, rehabilitation or conservation of an insurer authorized to do business in this state is ordered under this chapter, the receiver appointed under the order has a right to recover on behalf of the insurer, from any affiliate that controlled the insurer the amount of distributions, other than stock dividends paid by the insurer on its capital stock, made at any time during the five years preceding the petition for liquidation. . . .

(Emphasis added.) To recover under this section, the Liquidator must show, among other things, that the distributions were made to an “affiliate that controlled the insurer.” (R. 2976.) The Liquidator argues that he is entitled to recovery of

payments to LWP from Insurance as a matter of law simply because LWP admits that it was an affiliate of Insurance.<sup>3</sup> (Appellant’s Brief at 16.) The Liquidator did not allege in his Complaint or present evidence to the effect that LWP actually controlled Insurance or Mutual (and cannot do so because there is no such evidence.) (R. 2977.) Instead, the Liquidator has contended that a mere showing or admission of affiliate status is sufficient as a matter of law for recoupment. (Appellant’s Brief at 24.) By focusing solely on the status of an affiliate and ignoring the requirement of control, the Liquidator failed to even plead the basic elements of a cause of action against LWP under Section 322. The trial court rejected the Liquidator’s contention, finding that “[w]ithout claim and proof of actual control, the Liquidator is not entitled to recover money from LWP under Section 27-322 as a matter of law.” (R. 2922.) Through this appeal, the Liquidator continues to attempt to rewrite Section 322 by purposefully deleting the express requirement that the affiliate must be one “that controlled the insurer.”

---

<sup>3</sup> After recognizing LWP’s argument that it was not an affiliate of Mutual during the relevant time period, the Liquidator withdrew his motion for summary judgment seeking recovery of payments from Mutual to LWP. LWP’s Motion for Summary Judgment still pertained, however: if the Liquidator is not entitled to recover payments made by Insurance notwithstanding its admitted status as an affiliate based on common ownership, he is certainly not entitled to recover payments made by Mutual which was not an affiliate.



A. **Under Utah Code Ann. § 31A-27-322, it is not sufficient to show common ownership or management of the affiliate and the insurer; the plain language of the statute requires that the affiliate be in a position to control the insurer.**

As noted by the Liquidator himself at p. 34 of his Brief, it is a basic principal of statutory construction that “[i]n construing a statute, [w]e must assume that ‘each term in the statute was used advisedly, thus the statutory words are read literally, unless such a reading is unreasonably confused or inoperable.’” *County Board of Equalization of Wasatch County v. State Tax Comm’n*, 944 P.2d 370, 373 (Utah 1997) (citations omitted). Here, the Legislature required a showing of both affiliate status and that the affiliate “control” the insurer in order to bring the recoupment statute into play. There is nothing confusing or inoperable about the phrase “that controlled the insurer” in Section 322; it describes an element required in addition to the status as an affiliate. As the trial court found, the “Legislature used that language advisedly . . . the word ‘controlled’ would not have been included if affiliate status were all it intended to require.” (R. 2977.)

Control is not assumed by the mere fact of affiliation. The definitional section of the Utah Insurance Code, § 31A-1-301(5), delineates three types of affiliates: one that controls another entity, one that is controlled by another entity, and one that is under common control and management with another entity. The plain language of Section 322 then limits its application to one of the three types of affiliates, i.e., the type of affiliate that controls the insurer.

The Liquidator argues that an entity is presumed to control its affiliates, even if it is not an owner of the affiliate, because control is defined as “the direct or indirect possession of the power to direct or cause the management and policies of a person” (Utah Code Ann. § 31A-1-301(27)(a); Appellant’s Brief at 22). In other words, according to the Liquidator, “‘affiliate’ and ‘control’ [as used in Section 322] are thereby synonymous.” (Appellant’s Brief at 22-23.) Given the Legislature’s definition of affiliate in § 31A-1-301(5), there is no question that an affiliate relationship may involve some sort of relationship of control or common ownership and management; however, only a particular type of control – that of an affiliate over an insurer – gives the Liquidator the right to recoup distributions under Section 322. And, as Section 301(27)(a) makes absolutely clear, “[t]here is no presumption that an individual holding an official position with another person controls that person solely by reason of the position” (emphasis added).<sup>4</sup> Applying that section, the trial court found there is no presumption that LWP controlled Insurance or Mutual based on “mere common ownership or operation.” (R. 2437.)

The limitation of recovery under Section 322 to controlling affiliates makes absolute sense, given that the statute’s purpose is to prevent parent holding companies from raiding the assets of subsidiary insurers. (R. 1951, 2332.) This sort abuse can only occur when the party receiving the distribution is in control of

---

<sup>4</sup> Indeed, the Liquidator affirmatively disclaimed any presumption of control based on John Igoe’s positions with these companies. (R. 2285.)

the insurer and therefore is in the position of dictating or requiring a transfer of equity from the insurer to the controlling affiliate. (R. 2077.) LWP was neither a parent company nor a holding company of Insurance or Mutual, and it was never in a position to direct an equity distribution from those entities.

**B. The Liquidator never alleged or attempted to prove actual control of Insurance or Mutual by LWP, thus entitling LWP to judgment as a matter of law.**

The Liquidator has never alleged or presented evidence of actual control of LWP over Insurance or Mutual. (R. 2977.) In the Liquidator's Complaint, for example, he states that "[p]ursuant to Section 31A-27-322 . . . the receiver of [Insurance and Mutual] is permitted to recoup the amount of distributions made to affiliates at any time during the five years preceding the petition for distribution." (R. 1983.) Nowhere in the Complaint does the Liquidator address the requirement for control of the affiliate by the insurer or even recognize that it is a required element of a cause of action under Section 322. Similarly, in the Liquidator's memorandum supporting his motion for summary judgment, he writes ". . . the Liquidator is permitted to recover from any affiliate any distribution made at any time during the five years preceding the petition for liquidation." (R. 1669.) In advancing this draconian argument, the Liquidator ignores the requirement of control. Again, he presented no allegations or facts showing actual control of Insurance and Mutual by LWP. Even after being told by the trial court that the statute requires "claim and proof of actual control," the Liquidator persists in

ignoring the explicit requirement for control of the insurer by the affiliate, claiming that “[w]here the trial court found the facts established that LWP was an affiliate of Insurance, summary judgment should have been entered for Insurance.” (Appellant’s Brief at 24.) There is no such presumption.

The Liquidator complains that the trial court disregarded evidence of common control and management of LWP and Insurance. (Appellant’s Brief at 24-27.) That some of those in management also held positions with related companies is not a material issue in this case. LWP freely acknowledged that it was an affiliate of Insurance for a period of time based on common ownership. It further admitted that there was some overlap in management. Evidence of common management, however, does not prove that one subsidiary controlled or was able to direct distributions by another subsidiary of a common parent.

The Liquidator cites two cases in support of his proposition that common management is indicative of control of one corporation by the other. (Appellant’s Brief at 24.) The first case, *Johnson-Tanner v. First Cash Financial Serv., Inc.*, 239 F. Supp. 2d 34 (D.D.C. 2003), involved the issue of whether a parent corporation so dominated a subsidiary corporation that personal jurisdiction over the parent corporation under a “long-arm” statute was proper based on the acts of the subsidiary. The case is not at all relevant to the issue before the Court here, which is whether a cause of action under Utah Code Ann. § 31A-27-322 requires an allegation and proof that the affiliate corporation controlled the insurer. It is

admitted here, for example, that LWP was not the parent of Insurance; it was at best a sister company owned by a common parent, Group, which is not a party to this action.

The second case, *In re Chicken Antitrust Litigation*, 560 F. Supp. 1006 (N.D. Ga. 1982), also examined the control of a parent over a subsidiary, an entirely different issue than the issue here where the two corporations are sister subsidiaries without ownership of one by the other.

The Liquidator maintains that he “offered evidence that showed LWP and Insurance were affiliates and that they were managed by the same individuals, thus the Liquidator showed that LWP and Insurance were controlled by the same group.” (Appellant’s Brief at 24.) That showing was in fact that some of the same individuals had positions with both entities – there was never a complete identity of management. Either way, the Liquidator did not demonstrate the control over Insurance necessary to establish a cause of action under Section 322. The trial court was correct in finding against the Liquidator as a matter of law.

As for Mutual, it is true that the Liquidator and LWP disagree about whether LWP was an affiliate of Mutual. (Appellant’s Brief at 31.) This dispute, however, does not create an issue of material fact under Section 322 because the Liquidator has never alleged that LWP controlled Mutual. The Liquidator contends that the contradictory affidavits of Orrin Colby (submitted by the Liquidator) and John Igoe (submitted by LWP) create a factual dispute about control of Mutual,

but Mr. Colby merely asserts that LWP, Insurance and Mutual “were managed and controlled by the same Group of persons.” (Appellant’s Brief at 31; R. 2300.) It is true that some individuals had management positions with all three companies, but there were different members as well. They were not the “same group of persons.” The Colby affidavit does not support a finding that LWP controlled Mutual. (R. 2296-2302.)

Further, there are no allegations of common ownership between LWP and Mutual during the relevant time period.<sup>5</sup> Mutual companies are, by definition, owned by their members. Mutual, in turn, did own some of the common stock of Group, the parent of LWP, prior to the time when payments for services were made by Mutual to LWP, but as the result of a capital restructuring of Group in November of 2002, all of Mutual’s stock in Group was relinquished. (R. 2973.) LWP, as a subsidiary of Group, a company independent of Mutual, simply was not in a position to dictate distributions from Mutual to itself. (R. 2975.) Summary judgment in LWP’s favor on the claim for recoupment of payments by Mutual, a nonaffiliate, therefore follows with even greater force than with regard to the recoupment of payments by Insurance, an admitted affiliate.

---

<sup>5</sup> Common ownership was the sole basis for LWP’s admission that it was an affiliate of Insurance.

**II. THE PAYMENTS FROM INSURANCE AND MUTUAL TO LWP WERE PAYMENTS FOR SERVICES RENDERED, NOT “DISTRIBUTIONS” UNDER § 31A-27-322 AND, AS A MATTER OF LAW, ARE NOT SUBJECT TO RECOUPMENT.**

Although the trial court’s holding that there was no evidence that LWP controlled either Insurance or Mutual was sufficient for its grant of summary judgment to LWP, the Court also based its holding in LWP’s favor on an independent, alternative ground. (R. 2977-78.) Utah Code Ann. § 31A-27-322 only allows the Liquidator to recover “distributions” made by the controlled insurer. The Liquidator asserted that the term “distribution” includes all payments of any nature from an affiliate to an insurer. LWP contended instead, and the trial court found, that the term “distribution” means dividends or other transfers of a corporation’s equity and does not include payments such as those made by Insurance and Mutual to LWP for claim adjustment services. (R. 2978.)

As the Liquidator correctly noted, the plain language of a statute determines its meaning. (Appellant’s Brief at 33.)<sup>5</sup> That plain language, however, must be interpreted by “consider[ing] the act in its entirety” and “harmoniz[ing] its provisions in accordance with the legislative intent and purpose.” *Gutierrez v. Medley*, 972 P.2d 913, 915 (Utah 1998). Even though the word “distribution” is not defined in the Utah Insurance Code, the Liquidator argues that the term

---

<sup>5</sup> The Liquidator’s assertion that the ‘plain language’ of Section 322 governs its interpretation is somewhat at odds with his acknowledgment that the section is not “a model of clarity.” (Appellant’s Brief at 33.)

“distributions” plainly includes any transfer from an affiliate to an insurer and that these transfers are recoverable regardless of whether they were lawful and reasonable. He advances his contention while acknowledging that dividends are a type of transfer which are not recoverable if they are lawful and reasonable. (Appellant’s Brief at 34.) The Liquidator’s construction of this term establishes a conundrum addressed by the trial court. (R. 2979.)

The Liquidator points to no authority for his position on the meaning of the word “distribution” beyond a district court case with no precedential value which, as discussed below, involved an actual raid of a subsidiary’s equity by a controlling parent. *American Western Life Insurance Company in Liquidation v. Leland A. Wolf*, No. 980905251 (Third District Court, Salt Lake County, Utah, filed May 22, 2003). Further, even if “dividends” are a subset of “distributions” as the Liquidator contends, it does not follow that the term “distribution” includes all transfers of money or property of any type whatsoever. Indeed, as the trial court found, the term “distribution” only includes transfers of the equity of an insurer with respect to its ownership. (R. 2979.)

In granting summary judgment for LWP, the trial court looked to the plain meaning of “distribution” as defined in other sections of the Utah Code, as well as its use in other subsections of Section 322 and other parts of the Insurance Code. (R. 2974-2980.) In other words, the trial court did consider the act in its entirety, as required. The court observed that “distribution” is defined in the Utah Revised



Business Corporation Act, for example, as a “direct or indirect transfer or money or other property . . . in respect to any of [a corporation’s] shares . . . in the form of a declaration or payment of a dividend, a purchase, redemption, or other acquisition of shares, distribution of indebtedness or otherwise.” Utah Code Ann. § 16-10a-102(13). This definition is consistent with the meaning of the term “distribution” in common usage. A distribution is not any transfer of money or property but rather denotes dividing up and passing out of equity.

The trial court further observed that the term “distribution” is used similarly in the Utah Revised Business Corporation Act and the Utah Insurance Code. (R. 2978.) In subsections (4) and (5) of § 31A-27-322, the very statute invoked by the Liquidator for example, the terms “distribution” and “dividend” are used synonymously. Under subsection (4), an affiliate in control of the insurer at the time of a “distribution” is liable for up to the amount of “distributions” received. Section (5) then provides that “[i]f any person liable under subsection (4) is insolvent, all affiliates that controlled that person at the time the dividend was declared or paid are jointly and severally liable for such deficiency. . . .” (Emphasis added.) Thus, the term “distribution” in subsection (4) is used interchangeably with the term “dividend” in subsection (5). These are words describing a distribution (or raid) of the equity of a company by a parent that controls it, not a payment for services rendered.

As recognized by the trial court, the entire statutory scheme for the management of the affairs of insolvent insurance companies found in Chapter 27 of Title 31A (“Insurers Rehabilitation and Liquidation”) is consistent with the statutory construction urged by LWP: Sections 320-322 support the definition of the term “distribution” as transfer of money or property in respect of the equity of an insurer, as opposed to other payments. (R. 2979.) Section 320, for example, authorizes a liquidator to recover fraudulent “transfers” made within one year of the filing for liquidation; Section 321 empowers a liquidator to recover a “preference,” which is defined as “a transfer of any of the money or property of an insurer to or for the benefit of a creditor” if that transfer was made within a certain time period. Sections 320 and 321 clearly allow the liquidator to recover payments for services rendered under certain circumstances.<sup>6</sup> The Legislature’s use of the term “distribution” in Section 322 instead of the words “transfer” or “preference” strongly supports the conclusion that Section 322 was only intended to reach distributions of the equity of an insurer made to an affiliate in control. (R. 2979.)

Other sections of the Utah Insurance Code also support a definition of “distribution” as a transfer based upon ownership, rather than all payments or transfers. Utah Code Ann. § 31A-5-418, for example, refers to “dividends and

---

<sup>6</sup> These provisions are analogous to the powers of a trustee in a bankruptcy. They are the remedy the Liquidator should have used if he really believed that the payments made by Mutual and Insurance for services rendered were improper or otherwise preferential to other customers.

other distributions” and states that “a stock corporation may make distributions” if the “dividend” would not reduce the insurer’s total adjusted capital below a certain level. The section of the Utah Insurance Code concerning registration of insurers states that registration statements shall contain information on “dividends and other distributions” to shareholders. Utah Code Ann. § 31A-16-105(2)(c)(vii). Similarly, another section establishes standards for determining whether a “dividend or distribution” is extraordinary. Utah Code Ann. § 31A-16-106(2)(b), (c), and (d). In all these statutory provisions, “distribution” is clearly limited to transfers of equity made with respect to ownership.

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